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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR 

THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

AT SACRAMENTO

EARTH ISLAND INSTITUTE, a California non-profit, TULE RIVER CONSERVANCY, a California non-profit,  and FOREST CONSERVATION COUNCIL, a non-profit organization

                          Plaintiffs,


                      vs.

UNITED STATES FOREST SERVICE, and Bradley E. Powell, in his official capacity as Regional Forester for Region 5 of the United States Forest Service,

                        Defendants, 
)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
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)
Case No.:

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

(National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. § § 4321 et seq; Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § § 701 et seq. and the National Forest Management Act (NFMA), 15 U.S.C. §§1601 et seq.,)

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1.
This is a civil action for declaratory and injunctive relief brought by Earth Island Institute, Tule River Conservancy and the Forest Conservation Council to enjoin the United States Forest Service from continuing timber sales activities in the habitat of the California spotted owl and the Pacific Fisher when no legally valid management plan currently exists that will ensure the viability of these species.

2.
The Forest Service is currently involved in the preparation of a required environmental impact statement which will provide a long- term management strategy to insure the viability of the California spotted owl and the Pacific fisher.  With regard to the owl this process has taken over five years and is still not complete.  During the five years of preparation the Forest Service has continued to degrade, destroy, remove and fragment suitable California spotted owl habitat. With regard to the Pacific fisher this process has taken over a year and a half and is still not complete.  During this nearly two-year period of preparation the Forest Service has continued to degrade, destroy, remove and fragment suitable Pacific fisher habitat
3.
The First Claim for Relief challenges the Forest Service's continued use of the California Spotted owl (CASPO) Interim Guidelines as a basis for approving timber sales on the grounds that such use constitutes a major federal action under NEPA for which the Forest Service has not completed any currently valid Environmental Impact Statement or Environmental Assessment, as required by NEPA.

4.
The Second Claim for relief challenges the Forest Service's use of the CASPO Interim Guidelines and/or the Habitat Management Area strategy for the Pacific fisher as a basis for approving timber sales on the grounds that such use constitutes a major federal action under NEPA for which the Forest Service has not completed any currently valid Environmental Impact Statement or Environmental Assessment, as required by NEPA.

5.
The Third Claim for Relief challenges the Forest Service's approval and implementation of timber sales in the suitable habitat of the California Spotted owl throughout its range in the Sierra Nevada on the grounds that, contrary to NEPA, such timber sales constitute a major federal action which is adversely affecting the California spotted owl and is foreclosing management options while an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) is being prepared to ensure the rangewide viability of the owl.

6.
The Fourth Claim for Relief challenges the Forest Service's approval and implementation of timber sales in the suitable habitat of the Pacific fisher throughout its range in the Sierra Nevada on the grounds that, contrary to NEPA, such timber sales constitute a major federal action which is adversely affecting the Pacific fisher and is foreclosing management options while an EIS is being prepared to ensure the rangewide viability of the fisher.

7.
The Fifth Claim for Relief challenges the Forest Service's approval of timber sales throughout the Sierra Nevada on the grounds that the Service's NEPA review failed to include significant new information developed over the last seven years regarding the population status and habitat needs of the California spotted owl.

8.
The Sixth Claim for Relief challenges the Forest Service's approval of timber sales throughout the Sierra Nevada on the grounds that the Service's NEPA review failed to include significant new information developed over the last five years regarding the population status and habitat needs of the Pacific fisher.

9.
The Seventh Claim for Relief challenges the Forest Service's approval and implementation of timber sales in the suitable habitat of the California spotted owl throughout its range in the Sierra Nevada on the grounds that such logging operations, in the face of severely declining populations of spotted owls, and the absence of a management plan constitute a failure to ensure the viability of the owl, in violation of the National Forest Management Act (NFMA) and its implementing regulations.

10.
The Eighth Claim for Relief challenges the Forest Service's approval and implementation of timber sales in the suitable habitat of the Pacific fisher throughout its range in the Sierra Nevada on the grounds that such logging operations, in the face of severely declining and increasingly isolated populations of Pacific fishers, and the absence of a management plan constitute a failure to ensure the viability of the fisher, in violation of the National Forest Management Act (NFMA) and its implementing regulations.

11.
The above Claims for Relief are based upon violations of law caused by the Forest Service's approval and implementation of timber sales throughout the Sierra Nevada. Individual sales which exemplify these violations, include but are not limited to, the Bear River Commercial Thin timber sale and the Leonardi Forest Health Project in the Eldorado National Forest, the Grouse Conifer Thinning and Utilization timber sale and the Allover Timber Sale in the Tahoe National Forest, the Sammy Sale and Twin Thin on Stanislaus National Forest, and the Kangaroo CASPO Thinning Project, Burton Forest Health Project and Saddle Helicopter Sale in the Sequoia National Forest.
12.
This suit is brought under the Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §§551-706; the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. §§4321-4370, and implementing regulations of the Council of Environmental Quality (CEQ), 40 C.F.R. §§1500-1508; and the National Forest Management Act (NFMA), 15 U.S.C. §§1601 et seq., and its implementing regulations, 36 C.F.R §§219 et seq. 

II. 
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

13.
This court is vested with jurisdiction under 28 USC §1331(a) (action for declaratory and injunctive relief arising under the constitution and laws of the United States); 28 U.S.C.  §1361 (action in the nature of mandamus to compel an officer or employee of United States or any agency to perform their duties); 28 U.S.C. §§2201, 2202 (power to issue declaratory or injunctive relief in cases of actual controversy); and 5 U.S.C. §§702-706, because (1) the action arises under the laws of the United States, (2) defendants are sued in their official capacities as officers of the United States and (3) there is a present and actual controversy between the parties.

14.
A substantial portion of the actions giving rise to this complaint took place in this District; thus, venue is properly vested in this court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(e) and 5 U.S.C. § 703.

15.
There exists now between the parties hereto an actual, justiciable controversy.
III. PARTIES

16.
Plaintiff Earth Island Institute (EII) is a nonprofit corporation organized under the laws of the state of California.  EII is headquartered in San Francisco, California.  EII's mission is to develop and support projects that counteract threats to the biological and cultural diversity that sustains the environment.  Through education and activism, these projects promote the conservation, preservation and restoration of the Earth.  One of these projects is the John Muir Project - whose mission is to protect all federal public forestlands from commercial exploitation.   EII a membership organization with over 15,000 members in the U.S., over 3,000 of whom use and enjoy the National Forests of California for recreational, educational, aesthetic, spiritual and other purposes. EII has recently appealed numerous timber sales on National forests in the Pacific Northwest and the Sierra Nevada's, and is a plaintiff in a national lawsuit against the entire federal timber sales program.  EII through its John Muir Project has a longstanding interest in protection of national forests.  EII's John Muir Project and EII members actively participate in governmental decision making processes with respect to national forest lands in California and rely on information provided through the NEPA processes to increase the effectiveness of their participation.  The interests of EII, its John Muir Project and its members will be irreparably harmed if Defendants continue to violate NEPA and NFMA.

17.
Plaintiff TULE RIVER CONSERVANCY (TRC) is a private, nonprofit California corporation created to ensure the protection of the pristine Tule River and its unique ecosystem.  Members of the Tule River Conservancy members use and recreate in the Sequoia National Forest and have done so for many years.  Such recreation activities include hiking, camping, fishing, bird watching, watching and enjoying wildflowers, furbearers and all forms of wild flora and fauna, and are located in the lands that will be harvested unless injunctive relief is awarded. Members also include individuals who live in communities adjoining or near the Sequoia National Forest and they are affected by significant changes in the management of the forest including degradation of viewshed, continuity of migration and wildlife movement corridors, loss of old growth dependent species and habitat, and increased or decreased threat from wildfire occurrence. 

TRC submitted numerous comments and appeals expressing their concern with the chosen management strategies and the impact they have on the California spotted owl and the Pacific fisher as well as the failure of the Forest Service to adequately implement environmental laws. 

TRC members who reside in California also have occasion to use and the other forests of the Sierra Nevada for recreational, educational, aesthetic, spiritual and other purposes.  The interests of TRC and its members will be irreparably harmed by the ecological and biological destruction which will occur if legally invalid logging activities throughout California spotted owl habitat and Pacific fisher habitat is allowed to continue while a required environmental impact statement to insure the long-term viability of these species is being prepared.
18.
Plaintiff FOREST CONSERVATION COUNCIL is a national, not-for-profit organization with offices in Santa Fe, New Mexico, Boca Raton, Florida and Linden, Virginia. FCC is a membership organization with over 1000 individual and 500 business members across the nation.  Many of their members reside in or about the forests in the Central and Northern Sierra Nevada and have occasion to use and recreate therein.  The FCC Mission is to protect and restore the native biological diversity of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems throughout North America by advocating an end to extractive activities on public lands and sustainable resource policies on state and private lands.  To that end FCC and its members have actively participated in National Forest planning nationwide and in California for over a decade.  

19.
Plaintiffs have participated and commented extensively on the issues raised in this complaint, including comments submitted on the individual timber sales challenged herein. Examples of these comments urge, among other things, that the Forest Service refrain from planning and implementing timber sales in the habitat, or potential habitat, of the California spotted owl and Pacific Fisher until a legally valid management plan is in place to ensure their viability. Plaintiffs have submitted these concerns through comments and administrative appeal on individual timber sales on Sequoia, Tahoe, El Dorado, Stanislaus, Sierra, Plumas and Lassen National Forests. Plaintiffs have also submitted comments and filed administrative appeals on programmatic activities which affect these species, such as the Quincy Library Group and the Sierra Nevada Framework, as well as sent numerous demand letters to District Rangers and to the Regional Forester for Region 5. These concerns are most often rebuffed, rejected and or ignored by the Forest Service.  Plaintiffs have specifically demanded that the Regional Forester remedy all violations alleged herein with regard to the California spotted owl [See Plaintiffs' First Request For Judicial Notice ("PLS.1st RJN") Exhibit 21]

20.
Defendant United States Forest Service is the agency within the US Department of Agriculture charged with complying with NEPA and NFMA while making management decisions on national forests and is sued herein as the agency responsible for the violations alleged in this complaint.

21.
Defendant Bradley E. Powell, is the Regional Forester for Region 5 (California) of the United States Forest Service, and is sued in that capacity.

IV.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The California Spotted Owl

22.
The California Spotted Owl (Strix occidentalis occidentalis) is a medium-size owl whose range includes the Sierra Nevada and the four National Forests of Southern California.  The owl is a late-successional/ old-growth forest species, and is dependent upon older forests with high canopy closure.  Suitable habitat for the owl is defined as forests with at least 40% canopy closure and trees averaging 11 inches in diameter at breast height (dbh). (CASPO Technical Report, p. 11, July 1992) [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 3].

23.
In 1992 the California Spotted Owl Technical Report identified habitat damage caused by logging as a serious threat to the viability of the California Spotted Owl. (Id., pp.11-12) Of particular concern was the decline in abundance of larger, older trees due to selective logging. Id.

The Pacific Fisher

24.
The Fisher (Martes pennanti) is a small furbearer, which is dependent upon closed-canopy late-successional/old-growth forests.  In California, the Pacific subspecies (Martes pennanti pacificia) occurs in the northern coast Ranges and Klamath Province, and once inhabited the entire Sierra Nevada Range.  Today populations are found in the southern Sierra Nevada, but are either absent or exist in very low populations in the Central and Northern Sierra Nevada.

25.
Pacific fishers are among the most habitat specific mammals in North America and are sensitive to habitat fragmentation, require moist conditions associated with closed-canopy late-successionl forests and are threatened by "thinning" timber sales which reduce canopy closure, consequently exposing the habitat to the desiccating effects of wind and sun, resulting in dryer conditions.  See A Risk Assessment for Four Carnivores in the Sierra Nevada Under Proposed Forest Service Management Activities, Campbell et al, U.S. Forest Service pages 1 and 3 (2000). [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 25]

26.
In 2000, the Center for Biological Diversity produced a Status Review of the southern Sierra Nevada population of the fisher, which assesses the most recent scientific data regarding the fisher. This status review noted that over a century of logging has led to an approximate 80% decline in late-successional forests in the Sierra Nevada. [PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 26, p. 1]

The California Spotted Owl Interim Guidelines

27.
In 1992, the results of two studies, the Conservation Strategy for the Northern Spotted Owl (May 1990 - “ISC Report”) and the California Spotted Owl Technical Report (July 1992) (“CASPO Report”), demonstrated that the “current direction, i.e. maintenance of the Spotted Owl Habitat Area (SOHA) network, does not ensure that viability of the owl will be maintained.”  [Interim Guidelines Decision Notice, January 1993, [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 4, page DN-2,].  As a result, in July 1992, the Forest Service prepared an Environmental Assessment proposing to adopt the recommendations of the CASPO Report as interim guidelines for the short-term management of the owl.  [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit  5, pp. 1-2, ¶¶ 5-6].
28.
The Interim Guidelines EA was based on information acquired, compiled and analyzed in the California Spotted Owl Technical Assessment Team Report (Technical Report) which was published May 8, 1992. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 3]

29.
On or about January 13, 1993 the Forest Service subsequently adopted the proposed guidelines as the CASPO Interim Guidelines (“Interim Guidelines”) for all Sierra forests by issuing a Decision Notice and Finding of No Significant Impact (“FONSI”.) [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 4]  In doing so, the Forest Service amended the Forest Plans for the Eldorado, Inyo, Lassen, Modoc, Plumas, Sequoia, Sierra, Stanislaus and the Tahoe National Forests, as well as the Lake Tahoe Basin Management Unit with respect to managing and protecting the California spotted owl. A Finding of No Significant Impacts (FONSI) was issued for the Interim Guidelines instead of an Environmental Impact Statement because the "[Interim Guideline's] effects would be limited in time and scope ". (Id., at  DN page- 13).

30.
 Other reasons given as to why a FONSI was issued include the determinations that: (1) at the time the Interim Guidelines were issued there were said to be no known unusual circumstances in existence;  (2) the Interim Guidelines would not produce any significant irretrievable, irreversible or cumulative effects (specifically stating that by limiting the time period of the Interim Guidelines (i.e. 2 years) cumulative effects would not be significant); and (3) the Interim Guidelines were not likely to cause highly controversial effects (Id., at Pages DN-13 through DN-15).
31.
In addition the Decision Notice for the Interim Guidelines relied upon the statement from the CASPO Technical Report that spotted owls are still widely and fairly evenly distributed throughout conifer forests of the western Sierra Nevada, and that there was insufficient information existing at that time to identify any trends in spotted owl populations in the Sierra Nevada.  
32. The analysis in the 1992 CASPO EA envisioned a timber harvest volume of 

approximately 932 million board feet (Id., at page-8), affecting approximately 49,880 acres. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 5, CASPO EA, p. IV-76].
33.
The Interim Guidelines were implemented on March 1, 1993.  The stated purpose of the Guidelines was to ensure the viability of the spotted owl during the short term while a comprehensive strategy was developed.  [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 4, pp. DN-2, 8, 9, 11, 13, 14, and 15].  Accordingly, the Decision Notice states that “although the Interim Guidelines will apply to future decisions in the planning area, they will only apply to decisions made within the next two years.” (Id. at p. DN-15).  The limited two-year duration of the Interim Guidelines was a principal reason for the Forest Service’s decision not to prepare an EIS and instead adopt the Guidelines through an EA and FONSI.  (Id. at pp. DN 13-15).  Thus, pursuant to its own terms, the Interim Guidelines expired on or about March 1, 1995.

34.
The Decision Notice was clear that the use of the Interim Guidelines beyond the two year interim period would have significant impacts that would have to be addressed in an Environmental Impact Statement. (Id.)

35.
In 1995, the Forest Service sought to relax the limitations of the Interim Guidelines to allow for substantially more cutting under the proposed California Spotted Owl Guidelines (“Cal-Owl Guidelines”), which were intended to replace the Interim Guidelines.

36.
As a result of new scientific information identified in the environmental review process, the Forest Service withdrew the proposed Cal-Owl Guidelines for further revision.  One month prior to the release of a revised Draft EIS (“RDEIS”) in August 1996, however, Agriculture Secretary Dan Glickman again withdrew the RDEIS after concluding that the proposal ran counter to efforts to protect the California spotted owl and counter to the best scientific evidence as set forth in the newly published Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project ("SNEP") report.  The RDEIS was never released to the public, and no long-term conservation strategy for the owl was established.

37.
The Secretary then chartered a Federal Advisory Committee (“Committee”) in May 1997 to review the RDEIS.   On November 13, 1997 the Committee issued its report, which criticized the RDEIS for 1) failing to ensure the viability of California spotted owl populations in the Sierra Nevada; and 2) failing to create a plan what would ensure the viability of furbearer populations in the Sierra Nevada, including the Pacific fisher. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 6] 

38. 
In response to the Committee’s Report, the Chief of the Forest Service instructed the Regional Forester of Region 5 to “significantly improve the conservation strategy (for California spotted owl and all forest resources) through strong collaboration with partners and researchers.”   [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 9, p. 1].  

39.
A full NEPA review of either the Cal-Owl Guidelines or the RDEIS has never been completed, as such no Decision Notice on either document has ever been issued.  To date no long-term strategy to ensure the viability of the owl has been completed. 

Current Management For the California Spotted Owl and the Pacific Fisher
40.
On May 1, 1998, the Regional Forester of Region 5 issued a letter of instruction (“May 1, 1998 Letter” or “Letter”) to Forest Supervisors that identified tasks to improve conservation options for national forests in the Sierra Nevada.  These included 1) the contents of the letter itself (see discussion below) to “clarify existing guidelines and identify relevant new information that should be considered in planning FY98 and FY99" in order to “improve conservation options for key resources at issue,” including sensitive species the “California spotted owl and meso-carnivores/furbearers”; 2) a synthesis of the need for new direction from existing science, scientific reports, and an evaluation of how implementation of CASPO interim guidelines affects the key resources at issue;  3) the drafting of a new EIS to conform the individual Land and Resource Management Plans (LMRP) of the Sierra forests with new scientific information and protect resource values; and 4) development of a long term conservation framework.  [Id., p. 2].

41.
The Forest Service completed Task No. 2 of the May 1, 1998 Letter on July 24, 1998, when it published the Sierra Nevada Science Review (“Science Review”).  [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 10].   The Science Review assessed the status of California spotted owl and found that:

All demographic study areas within the Sierra Nevada are now showing significant population declines.  This was true on the Lassen National Forest for 1995, 1996, and 1997 (cite), on the Eldorado National Forest for 1997 (cite), on the Sierra National Forest for 1995, 1996 and 1997 (cite) and in Sequoia/Kings Canyons National Parks for 1996 and 1997 (cite). (Id., p. 24).

The Science Review notes that “[l]acking a realistic effort soon to provide adequate protection for the California spotted owl, it may become federally listed as well.”  [Id., p. 24].  The Science Review suggested that "the prolonged duration of the [Interim Guidelines]" might "result in unanticipated, negative impacts on the Spotted Owl.”, but acknowledged that such "undesired consequences … have not been comprehensively monitored." [Id. p. 26 and p.55.]


42.
The Science Review also assessed the status of the Pacific fisher.  The Review noted that the fisher has suffered significant declines in its range in the Sierra Nevada, no longer occurring in the central and northern Sierra north of Yosemite Park  [Id., p. 28, 29], and that recent studies indicate that the “annual mortality rate of females in the Sequoia National Forest study area appear to be relatively high.” [Id., p. 28].   The Review found that fisher distribution and stability could be significantly improved by appropriate management measures, including 1) assessing the efficacy of current fisher habitat networks (as defined in Freel’s 1991 Literature Review, see infra); 2) assessing the potential impacts of projects on fishers and their habitat; and 3) identifying and applying special management to fisher breeding sites or “natal dens.”  [Id., pp. 30,31].


43.
The May 1, 1998 Letter from the Regional Forester sets forth supplemental policy direction for protection of California spotted owls and furbearers such as the Pacific fisher.  This Letter has undergone no NEPA review, nor has it been subject to any public review process.


44.
For the owl, the May 1, 1998 Letter states that Sierran Province forests shall “continue to apply the CASPO Interim Guidelines as part of current policy.”  [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 9, p. 3]. 


45.
As to protection of furbearers, the May 1, 1998 Letter states:

For all projects with suitable mesocarnivore habitat, Forests should analyze direct, indirect and cumulative effects, using the biological evaluation process to disclose those effects on legacy structure and large hardwood components.  Additionally, the strategy outlined below to analyze the current habitat and management situation will form the basis of subsequent NEPA analysis.  (Id.)

46.
The “strategy” outlined by the May 1, 1998 Letter to protect furbearers refers to networks of  habitat management areas (HMAs) established in several Sierra Forests during the 1990s.  HMAs are based on a 1991 literature review on furbearer management (Freel, et. al.) published by the Forest Service. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 11, Table 1, pp. 3-4].

47.
The Center for Biological Diversity's "Status Review" on the Pacific fisher states that the HMA strategy is considered by scientists to be ineffective because it focuses on isolated "pairs" of fishers surrounded by unsuitable habitat, and thus leads to further isolation.  More importantly, as the Status Review points out, only five Sierra Nevada national forests have established HMAs.  More importantly these HMAs provide no meaningful protection whatsoever for the fisher as logging is specifically allowed to continue within the boundaries of the HMAs themselves. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 26]

48.
No NEPA Review has ever been conducted to evaluate the "strategy" outlined in the May 1, 1998 Letter or the HMA strategy in general. 

49.
A year 2000 Forest Service Document entitled A Risk Assessment For Four Carnivores In the Sierra Nevada Under Proposed Forest Service Management Activities, authored by L.A. Campbell, W.J. Zielinski and D.C. Macfarlane, indicates that the existing management practices relating to the Fisher equate to a retention of  only 5% of each forested type in late seral stage conditions throughout its range as well as any indirect benefit that the CASPO Interim Guidelines may provide. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 25, page 10]

50.
Both the California Spotted Owl and Pacific fisher are designated as Forest Service "sensitive species". 

Significant New Information and Changed Circumstances Regarding the California Spotted Owl 
51.
The Interim Guidelines were to be in place for only two years, instead they have been applied for over 7 years to 10 national forests.

52.
Since 1993 over 1.5 billion board feet has been sold from the 10 forests, which were governed by the Interim Guidelines. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 7].
53.
According to the Forest Service timber harvest reports, over two billion board feet have been cut from just the Eldorado, Lassen, Plumas, Sequoia, Sierra, Stanislaus and Tahoe National Forests during the time period of Oct 1, 1993 through Fiscal Year 1999. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 27]. This is more than twice the volume that the Forest Service envisioned cutting under the CASPO Interim Guidelines.

54.
Also, according to the Forest Service timber harvest reports from Oct 1, 1993 to September 30, 1999, over 300,000 acres across the forests governed by the Interim Guidelines has been logged. (Id.) This is more than six times the number of acres the Forest Service envisioned logging under the Interim Guidelines.

55.
Based upon data from the late 1980's and early 1990's the CASPO Technical Report (1992) concluded that the California spotted owl's "current distribution and abundance . . . do not suggest that they have declined within in their overall distribution in the Sierra Nevada or that they have declined markedly in abundance within any forest type." [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 3, p. 11].

56.
In November of 1998 A Study of Spotted Owl Demographics in the Sierra National Forest and Sequoia and Kings Canyon National Parks, authored by George M. Steger, Thomas E. Munton, Gary P. Eberline and Kenneth D. Johnson and commissioned by the U.S. Forest Service Pacific Southwest Research Station, Fresno, California, estimated that ". . . the rate of population change from 1988-1998 suggests that the owl population is declining at approximately 10% for SNF (Sierra National Forest) per year."[See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 15, p. 4]
57.
In February of 1999,  Summary Report:  Demographic Parameters of the California Spotted Owl on the Lassen National Forest; Preliminary Results (1990-1998), developed by Project Supervisor Jennifer A Blakesley, and Principal Investigator Dr. Barry R. Noon, again commissioned by the U.S. Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Research Station, Redwood Sciences Laboratory, estimated that ". . . the territorial population [of California spotted owls] experienced a 7.7% annual rate of decline from 1990-1998 on the Lassen National Forest." [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 17, page 11].

58.
In March of 1999 an Annual Progress Report entitled  Population Ecology of the California Spotted Owl in the Central Sierra Nevada, Annual Results 1998  was issued, again contracted by Region 5, USDA Forest Service, (principal investigator: Dr. R.J. Gutierrez) estimating that the finite rate of population change for California spotted owls in the Central Sierra Nevada was an annual decline of approximately 7% over the 12 years of study. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 16].

59.
On June 21, 1999 a demographic study entitled,  A Preliminary Report on the Status of the California Spotted Owl in the Sierra Nevada, prepared by Southwest Center for Biological Diversity and Sierra Nevada Forest Protection Campaign, was published.  This study found that the California spotted owl was declining throughout its range by approximately 7-10% per year. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 19].

60.
To date, none of the recent demographic studies on the California spotted owl, which indicate an average annual range-wide decline of between 7 and 10% per year, have been considered or incorporated into, a final EIS for the long-term management of the California spotted owl throughout the Sierran Province.  Nor have the CASPO EA or CASPO Interim Guidelines been updated or amended in light of this new information.  

61.
None of the new information which prompted the issuance of a Revised Draft Environmental Impact Statement in 1996 has been considered by or incorporated into a final EIS for the long-term management of the California spotted owl throughout the Sierran Province.  Nor have the CASPO EA or CASPO Interim Guidelines been updated or amended in light of this new information.

62.
None of the new information presented in the SNEP report in 1996 has been considered by, or incorporated into, a final EIS for the long-term management of the California spotted owl throughout the Sierran Province.  Nor have the CASPO EA or CASPO Interim Guidelines been updated or amended in light of this new information.

63.
The fact that timber harvest on the 10 national forests governed by the now defunct Interim Guidelines has resulted in the harvesting of nearly twice the volume of timber and the logging of six times the acreage, has never been considered by, or incorporated into, a final EIS for the long-term management of the California spotted owl throughout the Sierran Province.  Nor have the CASPO EA or CASPO Interim Guidelines been updated or amended in light of this new information.  

64.
To date neither the CASPO EA nor the CASPO Interim Guidelines have been revised, or supplemented in any way.

65.
On April 3, 2000, based on the current and foreseeable practices of the United States Forest Service's implementation of the timber sales program throughout the range of the California spotted owl, and due to the documented declines in the owl's population, a number of the Plaintiffs bringing this suit filed a petition with the Secretary of the Interior requesting that the owl be listed as a threatened or endangered species pursuant to the Endangered Species Act 16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 20].

66.
Despite the alarming declines in California spotted owl populations, the lack of a current owl management plan that insures its long-term viability, most of the timber sales that the Forest Service is currently offering and implementing in the Sierra Nevada are in suitable California spotted owl habitat and are being offered pursuant to the legally inadequate Interim Guidelines.

Significant New Information Regarding the Viability of the Pacific Fisher
67.
Since 1991, several published studies indicate that the southern population of the Pacific fisher is in a precarious state due to its low numbers, high rate of female mortality, and extirpation in the central and northern Sierra Nevada, which has created a genetic bottleneck for the isolated southern Sierra population.  These studies all conclude that the fisher is likely to be listed as an endangered species due to the failure of the current management strategies to prevent population declines.

68.
On March 24, 1997, a paper by William Zielinski, R.L. Barret, and Richard Truex was published entitled “Southern Sierra Nevada fisher and marten study: Progress Report IV," . Arcata, CA: USDA Forest Service Pacific Southwest Research Station.  This paper summarizes the field results of 2.5 years of continuous study of fishers and martens in and around the Tule River Ranger District in the Sequoia National Forest.  The study found that fishers preferred rest sites with tree sizes ranging from 6 to over 24 inches dbh, and always with a dense (60 to 100%) canopy cover.  This latter relationship was particularly true in winter, in which approximately 98% of fisher detections were made in dense canopy cover. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 22].

69.
On April 7, 1998, a paper by Richard Truex, William Zielinski, R.T. Golightly, R.L. Barret, and S.M. Wisely was published entitled “A meta-analysis of regional variation in fisher morphology, demography and habitat ecology in California (Draft Report). Arcata, CA: USDA Forest Service Pacific Southwest and Range Experiment Station.  This paper summarizes the results of several fisher studies that occurred during the 1990s, including the summary of additional observations and conclusions regarding the fisher study conducted in the Sequoia National Forest in the southern Sierra Nevada. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 23]. The paper cites the findings of the southern Sierra study , which indicates a disturbingly high mortality rate among female fishers for such an isolated population:
The higher female than male mortality rates, across all three study areas, raises concern.  Especially noteworthy was the low annual survival rate (61.2%) of females in the southern Sierra population; one that is already handicapped by being disjunct from the remainder of the California fisher population...

The paper goes on to recommend a modeling approach to address the potential of declining fisher populations:

The relatively high mortality rates, especially of adult females, should be examined further.  We recommend a modeling approach to simulate population growth in each study area...Only with additional modeling will we be able to predict the consequences to long-term viability of what appear to be relatively high mortality rates, especially in the most tenuous of the populations, the Southern Sierra.

70.
On February 15, 2000, a paper by Roland Lamberson, Richard Truex, William Zielinski, and Diane Macfarlane was published entitled “Preliminary Analysis of fisher population viability in the southern Sierra Nevada,” Arcata, CA: Humboldt State University.  This paper conducted a preliminary modeling to assess the viability of the Southern Sierra fisher population similar to the approach recommended by Truex, et. al. in their 1998 paper (see Paragraph 69, above.)  The study model found concluded that the observed 60% survival of female fishers in the Sequoia National Forest was likely to lead to the extinction of the Southern Sierra population:

In our model population growth only occurs when parameter combinations are extremely optimistic and likely unrealistic: if female survival and fecundity are high, other parameters can be relaxed to medium or low values.  If female survival and fecundity are medium and all other parameters are high, a steady decline toward extinction occurs.  Theoretical implications of the effects of stochastic phenomenon on small populations suggest that unless fishers in the southern Sierra Nevada can maintain high vital rates (reproduction and survival), the population may face imminent extinction.   [See PLS.1st RJN Exhibit 24, p. 10]

71.
The conclusion of the study, that fishers in the Southern Sierra face possible extinction, was made based on an assumed stable environment.  Indeed, the introduction of stochastic events "leads to even more dire predicted consequences for the population." (Id.)  To protect the southern Sierra fisher population from potential extinction, the study found that "management that focuses on the maintenance and connectivity of high-quality habitat" will be necessary. (Id. at 11)  The study emphasizes that:

Management to restore mature forest landscapes in the Sierra Nevada - landscapes where stands with large trees, snags and logs and moderate to dense canopy conditions are abundant - will assist the fisher population in its currently occupied area as well as the dispersal of fishers into the unoccupied portion of its historic range. (Id. at 11).  

The paper goes onto conclude:

Thus attention to the distribution and abundance of old forest conditions, especially the large woody structures and continuous forest canopies, is the primary means through which land management agencies can affect the recovery and persistence of fishers in the Sierra Nevada.  Ultimately long term planning to restore the connectivity, extent and quality of old forest conditions should be the foundation for fisher recovery in the Sierra Nevada.  (Id. at 12).

72.
As stated in the recent Risk Assessment of Four Carnivores prepared in conjunction with the Sierra Nevada Framework Amendment (See Campbell et al (2000), supra) "Isolated populations [of pacific fishers] are of special concern…" This is due to the fact that such populations have no opportunity to receive infusions of genetic diversity from periodic immigrants and as a result the effects of genetic drift and inbreeding are magnified, thus further endangering the viability of the isolated populations.  The Assessment concludes, "It is therefore important to avoid creation of isolated or insular populations [of Pacific fishers]." [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 25, p. 5-6].


73.
The Risk Assessment, with regard to the Pacific fisher, recognized that forest fragmentation caused by logging can lead to further population isolation, particularly since "thinning" timber sales decrease canopy cover thereby rendering habitat unsuitable and causing a threat to the fisher. (Id. at page 6).

74.
In addition, the Assessment noted that fishers now occupy less than 50% of their historical range. Habitat fragmentation has created an apparent 240-mile gap between the Southern Sierra fisher populations and those in northern California. (Id. p. 6) It should however be recognized that since no significant efforts have been made by the Forest Service to survey the gap region for fishers, it is possible that some small populations persist there. (Id. p.39) Given the need to reconnect these populations in order to ensure the viability of this species throughout the Sierra Nevada the report concluded that "Although the Sierra Nevada can be easily divided into regions where fishers occur versus those where they do not, the effect of management should not be evaluated differently in these regions." (Id., p. 38). 
75.
None of these recent studies on the Pacific fisher have been considered by, or incorporated into, any final EIS for the management of this species throughout the Sierra Nevada's.  Nevertheless, the Forest Service continues to log in suitable Pacific fisher habitat throughout its historic range in the Sierra Nevada.
The Sierra Nevada Framework Process
76.
The Forest Service is still in the process of completing Task 3, as set forth in the May 1, 1998 Letter, to amend the Sierra forest plans to ensure the long term viability of the California spotted owl, Pacific fisher and other sensitive species occurring in Sierra Nevada forests.  On May 3, 2000, the Sierra Nevada Forest Plan Amendment DEIS (“Sierra Nevada Framework” or “Framework”) was issued for 11 forests within the Sierran Province, (Eldorado, Lassen, Plumas, Sequoia, Stanislaus, Tahoe, Lake Tahoe Basin Management Unit, Inyo, Modoc and Humboldt-Toiyabe National Forests). 
77.
The Framework considers 8 alternative management prescriptions, and identified alternative No.s 6 and 8 as preferred. These alternatives are substantially more protective of Sierran forests than current management.  Alternative 8, for example, proposes to allow only 141 million board feet to be logged from Sierran Province forests annually (Framework DEIS, p. 35, see Preferred Alternative 8) [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 7].  In contrast, current management practices on the Sierran Province forests allows the logging of 571 million board feet per year (Framework DEIS, p. 35, see Alternative 1) (Id.).

78.
The preferred alternatives also provide increased protection for habitat of the California spotted owl. For example, California spotted owl habitat suitable for nesting and roosting (characterized as "select strata") is described as any area with canopy cover over 70% made up of trees averaging 21 inches or more in diameter at breast height (dbh), and suitable foraging habitat (characterized as "other strata") is any area with between 70% to 40% canopy closure and trees averaging at least 11 inches dbh. [See PLS.1st RJN Exhibit 5, (CASPO EA), p.IV-7].  For the past seven years the Forest Service has managed the Sierran Province forests under the Interim Guidelines.  These Interim Guidelines allow suitable nesting and roosting habitat for the California spotted owl ("select strata") to be degraded by logging to the point where it no longer supports nesting or roosting, and barely qualifies as foraging habitat (i.e. they are only required to maintain 40% canopy closure).  In addition these guidelines allow foraging habitat (i.e. "other strata") to be degraded to the point where it is no longer suitable for foraging. [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 4, (Interim Guidelines), DN-4 and DN-5].  By contrast under the preferred alternative for the Framework, "all existing suitable California spotted owl nesting and foraging habitat would be retained." [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 7, p. 2-123]. 
79.
On May 21, 2000 the U.S. Forest Service issued a California spotted owl risk assessment, comparing the various Framework alternatives to current management. See California Spotted Owl Assessment, Lee et al, 5/21/2000, draft ("Owl Risk Assessment") [See PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 18].

80.
The Forest Service found that timber harvest and group selection logging have the largest negative effects (i.e. loss of habitat) for the California spotted owl under current management.  Current management is defined as implementation of the CASPO Interim Guidelines and is referred to as Alternative 1.  (Id. p. 22, Table 11).

81.
In addition, the Forest Service found that Alternative 1 fails to protect all known owl territories, and thus poses greater risk to the viability of the California spotted owl throughout the Sierra Nevada than Alternatives 2,3,5,6,7 and 8. (Id., p. 27).  The Assessment further found that current management under the Interim Guidelines "incurred high risk" for the California spotted owl. (Id.)

82.
The Forest Service also produced a risk assessment for the Pacific fisher, comparing the various Framework alternatives to current management.  [See Campbell et al, U.S. Forest Service, 2000, supra ("Fisher Risk Assessment") PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 25].

83.
In this Assessment the Forest Service found that Alternative 1 (Current management under the Interim Guidelines, and retention of only 5% of forests in late-successional/old-growth conditions) offers no protected areas for the Pacific fisher, provides no den site protections, and has no requirements to survey for fishers prior to logging operations.  (Id., pp. 39,42).

84.
The Assessment further determined that Alternative 1 poses a greater risk to fisher viability than any other alternative, except Alternative 4.  (Id., p.46).  By contrast Alternative 8 (one of the preferred alternatives) was determined to provide the greatest protection for the fisher, specifically because it provides complete survey requirements, protects den sites and establishes large protected areas. (Id., pp. 39,40,42 and 46).

85.
Currently there is no legally-valid interim plan or long-term management plan in place to ensure the viability of either the California spotted owl or the Pacific fisher.

86.
The Forest Service is now in the process of developing a required program environmental impact statement for the management of the California spotted owl and the Pacific fisher.  Despite this fact the agency continues to prepare and execute timber sales throughout the range of the California spotted owl and Pacific fisher in the suitable habitat necessary for their survival prior to the issuance of the final plan.

87.
The Framework process began in January of 1999, and it took almost a year and a half before the Forest Service issued the Draft Environmental Impact Statement (April 2000) - a full seven months after their originally estimated release date.

88.
The Forest Service does not know when the final Framework for the spotted owl and fisher will be issued, and may extend the previously reported issuance date of December 2000 to some as yet undetermined point in the future. 

89.
Given the fact that current management allows for more management activities and less protection for the owl and fisher, and considering the Forest Service's track record with regard to issuing final range-wide plans (See discussion of Cal-Owl Guidelines and RDEIS above) it is uncertain as to whether such a final plan will ever be released.

V.
LEGAL FRAMEWORK

90.
The National Environmental Policy Act establishes a national policy to “prevent or eliminate damage to the environment and biosphere.”  NEPA §2;  42 U.S.C. §4321.  The Act recognizes “the critical importance of restoring and maintaining environmental quality,” declares that the federal government has a continuing responsibility to use “all practicable means” to minimize environmental degradation and directs that “to the fullest extent possible. . . the policies, regulations and public laws of the United States shall be interpreted and administered in accordance with the polices set forth in this Act.”  NEPA §§101(a), 102(1); 42 U.S.C. §4331(a), 4332(1).

91.
Under Executive Order 11514 (March 5, 1970), as amended by Executive Order 11991 (March 24, 1977), §§2(g) and 3(h), the Council on Environmental Quality (“CEQ”) has issued regulations binding on all federal agencies for the implementation of the procedural provisions of NEPA.  Those regulations (fully entitled “Regulations for Implementing the Procedural Provisions of the National Environmental Policy Act”) became effective in 1979 and binding upon the Forest Service.  40 Fed. Reg. 55978-56007 (1978), 40 C.F.R. Parts 1500-1508.

92.
NEPA requirements begin and attach at the planning stage of agency decisions.  As soon as an agency begins to plan an action, it must determine whether it must complete an Environmental Impact Statement.  Unless a categorical exception exists, the Agency must prepare an Environmental Assessment before proceeding.  40 C.F.R. §§1501.4(b), 1508.9.

93.
If the proposal is for a major Federal action significantly affecting the human environment, an Environmental Impact Statement must be prepared.  42 U.S.C. §4332.  “Proposal for major federal action” is broadly defined to include “projects and programs ... and new or revised agency rules, regulations, plans, policies or procedures. ” 40 C.F.R. §1508.18(a).   The term “significantly” is defined both in “context” and “intensity.”  40 C.F.R. §1508.27.  “Context” acknowledges that significance of an action must be analyzed in several contexts such as society, the affected region, the affected interests and the locality.  In a geographically specific action, significance would usually depend upon the effects in the locale.  40 C.F.R. §1508.27.   “Intensity” captures the notion that the significance varies with the magnitude of the affect.  However, it is not defined in terms of detriment compared to benefit.  “A significant effect may exist even if the Federal agency believes that on balance the effect will be beneficial.”  40 C.F.R. §1508.27, [“Affecting is defined as “will or may have an effect on.”].

94.
Even if this was something less than a significant federal action, unless there is an applicable categorical exemption, the Forest Service cannot simply decline to prepare an EIS without analysis but must prepare an environmental assessment which provides sufficient evidence and analysis to determine whether to prepare an environmental impact statement.  40 C.F.R. §§1501.4, 1508.9.  Moreover, the EA must include a full consideration of alternatives as required by NEPA section 102(2)(E).   40 C.F.R. §1508.9.

95. 
A fundamental goal of NEPA is a public-private cooperation in environmental protection.  NEPA §101(a), 42 U.S.C. §4331(a).  Central to this goal and the NEPA process is the involvement of the public.   As the implementing regulations provide, an agency is required to “make diligent efforts to involve the public in preparing and implementing their NEPA procedures.” 40 C.F.R. §1506.6.

96. 
Plaintiffs have diligently and repeatedly asked for compliance with NEPA and asked to be involved in the process.  See, for example, PLS.1st RJN, Exhibit 21.  At each point, the requests and concerns of the plaintiffs were rebuffed and disregarded.

97. 
In conducting the NEPA process, whether by EIS or EA, the agency must “study, develop, and describe appropriate alternatives to recommended courses of action in any proposal...”  42 U.S.C. §4332(E).  The implementing regulations provide that this consideration of all reasonable alternatives is “the heart of”  the environmental analysis.  36 CFR §1502.14.   In planning and implementing the CASPO Guidelines since 1995, the Forest Service wholly failed to consider any alternatives. 

98.
NEPA requires that decisions about federal actions are made only after responsible decision makers have fully considered the environmental consequences of the actions.  Indeed, even where the agency prepares only an Environmental Assessment and makes a Finding of No Significant Impact, the agency must assess the environmental consequences of not only the action, but also all alternatives considered.  40 C.F.R. §1508.9(b). These environmental consequences include the direct and the indirect effects of the proposal and alternatives. 40 C.F.R. §1502.16.

99. 
NEPA requires that when information on reasonably foreseeable adverse impacts evaluated in the EIS is essential to making a reasoned choice and the costs are not exorbitant, it must be obtained.  If this information is incomplete or unavailable, the agency must “make clear that such information is lacking.”  40 C.F.R. §1502.22.

100. 
The CEQ regulations implementing NEPA require that “[p]roposals or parts of proposals which are related to each other closely enough to be, in effect, a single course of action shall be evaluated in a single impact statement.”  40 CFR §1502.4(a). 

101. 
NEPA requires that a supplemental analysis must be conducted where there is significant new circumstances or information relevant to environmental concerns and bearing on the proposed action or its impacts. 40 C.F.R. § 1502.9(c).
102. 
The National Forest Management Act and its implementing regulations, specifically 36 C.F.R. § 219.19, requires the Forest Service to insure the viability of all native vertebrate species.


103.
The Forest Service's duty to maintain viable populations "applies with special force to 'sensitive' species", the Forest Service Manual requires that sensitive species "receive special management emphasis to ensure their viability and to preclude trends toward endangerment that would result in the need for Federal listing." (Forest Service Manual § 2672.1)

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Count 1

National Environmental Policy Act Violation
Application of the CASPO Interim Guidelines
104.
Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 - 103 herein by reference.

105.
The Forest Service’s decision to propose, develop, implement and use the California Spotted Owl (CASPO) Interim Guidelines as a basis for approving timber sales throughout the range of the California spotted owl constitutes a major federal action under NEPA.  The Forest Service’s failure to complete any currently valid Environmental Impact Statement or Environmental Assessment for this action violates § 102 of NEPA (42 U.S.C. § 4332) and its implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§1501.4(b), 1508.9.

COUNT 2

Administrative Procedures Act Violation

106.
The Forest Service’s decision to propose, develop, implement and use the California Spotted Owl (CASPO) Interim Guidelines as a basis for approving timber sales throughout the range of the California spotted owl without completing a currently valid Environmental Impact Statement or Environmental Assessment is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); is in excess of its statutory jurisdiction, authority or limitations under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); or is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under 5 U.S.C. §706(1).
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Count 1

National Environmental Policy Act Violation
Application of the CASPO Interim Guidelines

107.
Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 - 103 herein by reference.

108.
The Forest Service’s decision to propose, develop, implement and use the California Spotted Owl (CASPO) Interim Guidelines and the Habitat Management Area strategy as a basis for approving timber sales throughout the range of the Pacific fisher constitutes a major federal action under NEPA.  The Forest Service’s failure to complete any currently valid Environmental Impact Statement or Environmental Assessment for this action violates § 102 of NEPA (42 U.S.C. § 4332) and its implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§1501.4(b), 1508.9.

COUNT 2

Administrative Procedures Act Violation

109.
The Forest Service’s decision to propose, develop, implement and use the California Spotted Owl (CASPO) Interim Guidelines and the Habitat Management Area strategy as a basis for approving timber sales throughout the range of the Pacific fisher without completing a currently valid Environmental Impact Statement or Environmental Assessment is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); is in excess of its statutory jurisdiction, authority or limitations under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); or is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under 5 U.S.C. §706(1).

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Count 1

National Environmental Policy Act Violation
Failure to Comply with Limitations on Actions During NEPA Process (Owl)

110. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 - 103 herein by reference.

111.
40 C.F.R 1506.1(c) of NEPA regulations requires that "While work on a required program environmental impact statement is in progress and the action is not covered by an existing program statement, agencies shall not undertake in the interim any major federal action covered by the program which may significantly affect the quality of the human environment unless such action:

(1) Is justified independently of the program;

(2) Is itself accompanied by an adequate environmental impact statement; and

(3) Will not prejudice the ultimate decision on the program.  Interim action prejudices the ultimate decision on the program when it tends to determine subsequent development or limit alternatives."

112.
The Forest Service’s decision to continue logging suitable California Spotted owl habitat throughout its range while it has been developing the Framework EIS is a violation of 40 CFR 1506.1(c).

COUNT 2

Administrative Procedures Act Violation
113.
The Forest Service’s decision to continue logging suitable California Spotted owl habitat throughout its range while it has been developing the Framework EIS is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); is in excess of its statutory jurisdiction, authority or limitations under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); or is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under 5 U.S.C. §706(1).

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Count 1

National Environmental Policy Act Violation
Failure to Comply with Limitations on Actions During NEPA Process (Fisher)

114. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 - 103 herein by reference.

115.
40 C.F.R 1506.1(c) of NEPA regulations requires that "While work on a required program environmental impact statement is in progress and the action is not covered by an existing program statement, agencies shall not undertake in the interim any major federal action covered by the program which may significantly affect the quality of the human environment unless such action:

(1) Is justified independently of the program;

(2) Is itself accompanied by an adequate environmental impact statement; and

(3) Will not prejudice the ultimate decision on the program.  Interim action prejudices the ultimate decision on the program when it tends to determine subsequent development or limit alternatives."

116.
The Forest Service’s decision to continue logging suitable Pacific fisher habitat throughout its range while it has been developing the Framework EIS is a violation of 40 CFR 1506.1(c).

COUNT 2

Administrative Procedures Act Violation
117.
The Forest Service’s decision to continue logging suitable Pacific fisher habitat throughout its range while it has been developing the Framework EIS which will govern the long-term viability of this species is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); is in excess of its statutory jurisdiction, authority or limitations under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); or is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under 5 U.S.C. §706(1).

//

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Count 1

National Environmental Policy Act Violation
Failure to Consider New Information and Changed Circumstances Re the California Spotted Owl

118. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 - 103 herein by reference.

119.
The Forest Service's continued approval and execution of timber sales in suitable California spotted owl habitat throughout the Sierran Province violates CEQ regulation 40 C.F.R. § 1502.9(c) because the Forest Service failed to consider in the individual Environmental Assessments or Environmental Impact Statements, or in any forest-wide or range-wide programatic EIS, significant new information developed over the last seven years regarding the population status and habitat needs of the California spotted owl.

COUNT 2

Administrative Procedures Act Violation
120.
The Forest Service's failure to consider significant new information developed over the last seven years regarding the population status and habitat needs of the California spotted owl in timber sale Environmental Assessments or Environmental Impact Statements, or in any forest-wide or range-wide programatic EIS,  prior to approving and implementing the sales throughout the Sierran Province is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); is in excess of its statutory jurisdiction, authority or limitations under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); or is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under 5 U.S.C. §706(1).

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Count 1

National Environmental Policy Act Violation
Failure to Consider New Information and Changed Circumstances Re the Pacific Fisher

121. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 - 103 herein by reference.

122.
The Forest Service's continued approval and execution of timber sales in suitable Pacific fisher habitat throughout the Sierran Province violates CEQ regulation 40 C.F.R. § 1502.9(c) because the Forest Service failed to consider in the individual Environmental Assessments or Environmental Impact Statements, or in any forest-wide or range-wide programatic EIS,  significant new information developed over the last five years regarding the population status and habitat needs of the Pacific fisher.

COUNT 2

Administrative Procedures Act Violation
123.
The Forest Service's failure to consider significant new information developed over the last five years regarding the population status and habitat needs of the Pacific fisher in timber sale Environmental Assessments or Environmental Impact Statements, or in any forest-wide or range-wide programatic EIS, prior to approving and implementing the sales throughout the Sierran Province is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); is in excess of its statutory jurisdiction, authority or limitations under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); or is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under 5 U.S.C. §706(1).

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Count 1

National  forest management Act Violation
Failure to ensure viability of the California spotted owl

124. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 - 103 herein by reference.

125.
Defendants are in violation of the National Forest Management Act and its implementing regulations, specifically 36 CFR 219.19, due to their failure to insure the viability of the California spotted owl by planning and executing timber sales in the habitat of this declining species.  Examples of such sales include, but are not limited to, the Bear River Commercial Thin timber sale and the Leonardi Forest Health Project in the Eldorado National Forest, the Grouse Conifer Thinning and Utilization timber sale and the Allover Timber Sale in the Tahoe National Forest, the Sammy Sale and Twin Thin on Stanislaus National Forest, and the Kangaroo CASPO Thinning Project and Burton Forest Health Project in the Sequoia National Forest.

//

//

//

COUNT 2

Administrative Procedures Act Violation

126.
The Forest Service’s decision to approve and implement  timber sales in the suitable habitat of the California spotted owl throughout its range in the Sierra Nevada, in the face of severely declining populations of California spotted owls, and in the absence of a management plan to ensure the viability of this species is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); is in excess of its statutory jurisdiction, authority or limitations under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); or is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under 5 U.S.C. §706(1).

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Count 1

National  forest management Act Violation
Failure to ensure viability of the Pacific fisher
127. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 - 103 herein by reference.

128.
Defendants are in violation of the National Forest Management Act and its implementing regulations, specifically 36 CFR 219.19, due to their failure to insure the viability of the Pacific Fisher by planning and executing timber sales in the habitat of this declining species in the absence of a range-wide management plan.  Examples of such sales include, but are not limited to, the Bear River Commercial Thin timber sale and Leonardi Forest Health Project in the Eldorado National Forest, the Grouse Conifer Thinning and Utilization timber sale in the Tahoe National Forest, and the Kangaroo CASPO Thinning Project and Saddle Helicopter Sale in the Sequoia National Forest.

COUNT 2

Administrative Procedures Act Violation

129.
The Forest Service’s decision to approve and implement  timber sales in the suitable habitat of the Pacific fisher throughout its range in the Sierra Nevada, in the face of severely declining and increasingly isolated populations of Pacific fishers, and in the absence of a management plan to ensure the viability of this species, is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); is in excess of its statutory jurisdiction, authority or limitations under 5 U.S.C. §706(2)(A); or is agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed under 5 U.S.C. §706(1).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:

1.
Declare that the CASPO Interim Guidelines expired on or about March 1, 1995.

2.
Declare that the CASPO Interim Guidelines are legally inadequate and not in compliance with NEPA and should not be relied upon as justification for management activities throughout the Sierran Province.

3.
Declare that once the Forest Service began NEPA procedures regarding a long term management plan for conservation of the California spotted owl they were required by law to not allow any major federal action (i.e. timber sales in spotted owl habitat throughout the Sierran Province) covered by this program which could significantly affect the environment, and are therefore in violation of NEPA, 42 U.S.C. §§4321-4370d, and it's implementing regulations, 40 C.F.R. §§ 1500-1508, including 40 C.F.R. 1501.6(c).

4.
Declare that once the Forest Service began NEPA procedures regarding a long term management plan for conservation of the Pacific fisher they were required by law to not allow any major federal action (i.e. timber sales in fisher habitat throughout the Sierran Province) covered by this program which could significantly affect the environment, and are therefore in violation of NEPA, 42 U.S.C. §§4321-4370d, and it's implementing regulations, 40 C.F.R. §§ 1500-1508, including 40 C.F.R. 1501.6(c).

5.
Declare that Defendants are in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 4332, and NEPA's implementing regulations, due to their practice of planning and executing timber sales in the habitat of the California spotted owl and Pacific fisher throughout the Sierran Province without an environmental impact statement to serve as a management plan for the protection of these species. 

6.
Declare that Defendants are in violation of 40 C.F.R § 1052.9(c) for failing to consider significant new information and changed circumstances regarding the California spotted owl  and Pacific fisher.

7.
Declare that Defendants are in violation of 40 C.F.R § 1052.9(c) failing to produce a supplemental EIS prior to continued logging after the Interim Guidelines expired in 1995; 

8.
Declare that Defendants are in violation of 36 C.F.R. § 219.19 due to their failure to insure the viability of the California spotted owl.

9.
Declare that Defendants are in violation of 36 C.F.R. § 219.19 due to their failure to insure the viability of the Pacific fisher.

10.
Declare that the Defendants' actions as set forth in this complaint are arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of their discretion, are not in accordance with law and are without observance of procedures required by law and therefore must be set aside pursuant to the APA, 5 U.S.C. §706 (2);

11.
Enjoin Defendants from awarding or proceeding with the operation of any timber sales that have not already been awarded which are located in suitable or potentially suitable Pacific fisher habitat as described in this Complaint until Defendants have complied with NEPA by issuing a record of decision on the Sierra Nevada Framework, have reevaluated these sales in light of the comprehensive strategy, and have insured the fisher's viability in accordance with 36 C.F.R § 219.19.

12.
Enjoin Defendants from awarding any new timber sales within California spotted owl habitat as defined by the CASPO Technical Report until a record or decision has been issued on the Sierra Nevada Framework and has been found by a court of law to be legally adequate.

13.
Enjoin Defendants from awarding any new timber sales within Pacific fisher suitable or potentially suitable habitat until a record or decision has been issued on the Sierra Nevada Framework and has been found by a court of law to be legally adequate.

14.
Enjoin Defendants from further logging operations on currently awarded timber sales in suitable California spotted owl habitat until these sales can be modified in accordance with the prescriptions and requirements of the final EIS and record of decision for the Sierra Nevada Framework.

15.
Enjoin Defendants from further logging operations on currently awarded timber sales in suitable and potentially suitable Pacific fisher habitat until these sales can be modified in accordance with the prescriptions and requirements of the final EIS and record of decision for the Sierra Nevada Framework.
16.
Award Plaintiffs their reasonable fees, costs and expenses associated with this litigation pursuant to the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412 or other authority; and 

17.
Grant Plaintiffs such additional and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable.


Dated this               day of October, 2000.

Respectfully Submitted, 
John Muir Project of Earth Island Institute








By: _____________________________









Rachel M. Fazio









Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Dated this_______day of October, 2000.









Respectfully Submitted,









Law  Offices of Thomas N. Lippe









By:_____________________________










Thomas N. Lippe










Attorneys for Plaintiffs






















Complaint - 1
Rachel M. Fazio

John Muir Project

30 N. Raymond Ave., Suite 514

Pasadena, CA 91103

(626) 792-0109




